
To:    Elizabeth Rolando 
 
FROM:   David Gilbert, Administrative Law Judge 
 
DATE:    June 4, 2008 
 
RE:    Docket 08-0175 
 

Citizens Utility Board, Citizens Action/Illinois and AARP -vs- 
Illinois Energy Savings Corp. d/b/a U.S. Energy Savings 
Corp. 
Complaint pursuant to 220 ILCS 5/19-110 or 19-115. 
 

 
ADMINISTRATIVE LAW JUDGE’S RULING 

 
Respondent, Illinois Energy Savings Corp., dba U.S. Energy Savings Corp. 

(“US”), moves to dismiss Counts V, VI and VII of the Complaint filed in this proceeding 
by Citizens Utility Board, Citizens Action/Illinois and the AARP (collectively, 
“Complainants”).  US contends that the claims asserted in those counts are beyond the 
jurisdiction of this Commission.  Complainants and Commission Staff filed responses to 
the motion, and US filed a reply to those responses. 
 

A motion to dismiss attacks the legal sufficiency of a complaint and tests whether 
it states a cause of action upon which relief can be granted.  Weiss v. Warehouse 
Securities, Inc., 335 Ill. App. 3d 875, 781 N.E.2d 1105 (2002).  The tribunal must assess 
the complaint in the light most favorable to the complainant, and must assume all 
reasonably alleged facts to be true. Givot v. Orr, 321 Ill. App. 3d 78, 746 N.E.2d 810 
(2001). 

 
The Commission, as an administrative agency, has only the powers and duties 

conferred upon it by the Legislature.  The Commission was created by the Public 
Utilities Act (“PUA”)1 and most, but by no means all2, of its powers are received through 
that act.  With respect to each of the three counts of the Complaint challenged by US, 
the question presented is whether the Commission’s powers and duties include 
authorization to consider the claims presented.   
 

                                            
1
 220 ILCS 5/1-101 et seq. 

2
 For example, the Commission also derives powers and duties from the Wireless Emergency Telephone 

Safety Act, 50 ILCS 751/75, the Illinois Commercial Relocation of Trespassing Vehicles Law, 625 ILCS 
5/18a-100  et seq., the  Illinois Commercial Transportation Law 625 ILCS 5/18c-1101 et seq., and the 
Motor Carrier of Property Act, 625 ILCS 5/18c-4101 et seq.  The Commission has also been empowered 
to implement portions of federal law, such as provisions in the federal Communications Act of 1934 and 
the Telecommunications Act of 1996. See, generally, 47 USC 151 et seq.      
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Under the PUA, US is an Alternative Gas Supplier (“AGS”), not a gas utility 3.  
AGSs are subject to Article XIX of the PUA.  Subsection 19-120(b)4 describes, in 
pertinent part, the Commission’s complaint jurisdiction regarding AGSs: 
 

The Commission shall have jurisdiction in accordance with 
the provisions of Article X of this Act to entertain and dispose 
of any complaint against any alternative gas supplier alleging 
that: 
 
(1) the alternative gas supplier has violated or is in 
nonconformance with any applicable provisions of Section 
19-110 or Section 19-115;  
 
(2) an alternative gas supplier has failed to provide service in 
accordance with the terms of its contract or contracts with a 
customer or customers;  
 
*** 
 
*** 
 

 As will be discussed in greater detail below, the pertinent counts of the 
Complaint are grounded in subsection (1) of Section 19-120, which concerns alleged 
violations of Sections 19-110 and 19-115.  Count VII is also grounded in subsection (2).  
Section 19-110 addresses certification of AGSs by the Commission.  Under subsection 
19-110(e)(5), to receive certification, a prospective AGS must demonstrate, among 
other things, that it will “comply with all other applicable laws and rules.”5  Once 
certification has been awarded, subsection 19-115(b)(2) obliges an AGS to “continue to 
comply with the requirements for certification stated in Section 19-110.”6   
 
 Resolution of the issues posed by the US motion will, in large measure, be 
dependent upon the meaning and intention of the phrase “all other applicable laws and 
rules,” as it appears in subsection 19-110(e)(5) and as it is carried forward to subsection 
19-115(b)(2).  Established rules of statutory construction guide the Administrative Law 
Judge’s (“ALJ’s”) interpretation of that pertinent phrase: 
 

“The cardinal rule of statutory construction, to which all other 
canons and rules are subordinate, is to ascertain and give 
effect to the true intent and meaning of the legislature."  
People ex ret. Hanrahan v. White, 52 Ill.2d 70, 73, 285 
N.E.2d 129 (1972).  "In determining the legislative intent, 

                                            
3
 An AGS is defined under 220 ILCS 5/19-105, which distinguishes AGSs from gas utilities (in subsection 

(i)).  The definition of “gas utility” appears in a separate subsection of Section 19-105. 
4
 220 ILCS 5/19-120(b). 

5
 220 ILCS 5/19-110(e)(5). 

6
 220 ILCS 5/19-115(b)(2). 
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courts should consider first the statutory language."  People 
v. Boykin, 94 Ill.2d 138, 141, 444 N.E.2d 1174 (1983).  
Unambiguous terms, when not specifically defined, must 
given their plain and ordinary meaning.  Hayes v. Mercy 
Hospital & Medical Center, 136 Ill.2d 450, 455, 557 N.E.2d 
873 (1990).  Moreover, "the courts also will avoid a 
construction of a statute which would render any portion of it 
meaningless or void."  Harris v. Manor Healthcare Corp., 111 
Ill.2d 350, 362-63, 489 N.E.2d 1374 (1986); People v. 
Tarlton, 91 Ill.2d 1, 5, 434 N.E.2d 1110 (1982); People v. 
Lutz, 73 Ill.2d 204, 212, 383 N.E.2d 171 (1978).  The courts 
presume that the General Assembly, in passing legislation, 
did not intend absurdity, inconvenience, or injustice.  Harris, 
111 Ill.2d at 363.   

 
Gerard Hernon v. E.W. Corrigan Construction Co., 149 Ill. 2d 190, 194-5, 595 N.E.2d 
561, 562-3 (1992).  Additional rules of statutory construction will be cited in the analysis 
below. 
  

COUNT V 
 

In Count V, Complainants aver that certain purported conduct by US (as 
described in earlier paragraphs of the Complaint) has violated the Illinois Consumer 
Fraud and Deceptive Business Practices Act (“CFA”)7.  US maintains that alleged CFA 
violations are not within the Commission’s complaint jurisdiction under subsection 19-
120(b), because the CFA is not mentioned in that provision or in the statutes (Sections 
19-110 & 115) referenced in subsection 19-120(b)(1).  Motion at 3.  US relies upon the 
principle of statutory construction under which matters not explicitly included in a 
statutory enumeration are presumed excluded (i.e., expression unius est exclusio 
alterius, or, for the purpose of this Ruling, the “presumptive exclusion principle”).  Id. 
 

Complainants do not respond to US’s argument based on the presumptive 
exclusion principle.  Instead, they stress that they seek no “independent remedies” for 
the CFA violations alleged in Count V, and that their intention is “to demonstrate the 
magnitude of the violations of law” by US8.  Complainants’ Response at 2.  The “law” to 
which Complainants refer is contained in Sections 19-110 and 19-115.  Id., at 3-4.  
Although Complainants do not put it precisely this way, the essence of their position is 
that a violation of the CFA constitutes a violation of the “other applicable laws” provision 
of subsection 19-110(e)(5), which is also carried forward to subsection 19-115(b)(2). 

                                            
7
 815 ILCS 510/1 et seq. 

8
 The ALJ notes that Complainants have invited the impression that the Complaint seeks redress for 

violation of the CFA qua the CFA and not solely as evidence of a violation of the obedience-to-law 
provisions of Sections 19-110 and 19-115 of the PUA.  The Complaint addresses the CFA in a separate 
count and does not allege, either in that count or later, that US’s purported CFA violations constitute a 
violation of the pertinent obedience-to-law provisions.  Had Complainants made such allegation, 
speculation by the other parties regarding Complainants’ intentions in the Complaint would likely have 
been obviated.   
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US replies that Complainants cannot, in effect, manufacture Commission 

jurisdiction over laws outside the PUA by alleging that contravention of such laws 
constitutes a PUA violation.  US Reply at 2.  US cites Wernikoff v. RCN Telecom 
Service of Illinois, Inc., 341 Ill.App.3d 89, 94, 791 N.E.2d 1195, 1199 (2003), where the 
Court of Appeals stated that “consumers can file complaints with the Commission only if 
there is a violation of the Act or an order or rule of the Commission…The Commission 
has no jurisdiction over consumer complaints that involve common law claims of 
violation of statues other than the Act.” 
 
 The shortcoming of US’s reliance on the presumptive exclusion principle is that 
the specific cause of action alleged in Count V is arguably included in - not excluded 
from - the grant of authority in subsection 19-120(b)(1).  That subsection explicitly 
provides jurisdiction over purported violations of Sections 19-110 and 19-115, and 
compliance with “all other applicable laws” is required by those statutes9.   
 

Similarly, Wernikoff does not compel dismissal of Count V.  Wernikoff stands for 
the proposition that the Commission’s complaint jurisdiction is limited to ostensible 
violations of the PUA.  Count V is consistent with that proposition, however.  Simply put, 
Sections 19-110 and 19-115 are “in the Act,” as Wernikoff requires.   
 

Again, the key issue raised here is whether laws outside of the PUA are among 
the “applicable laws” contemplated in the relevant subsections of Sections 19-110 and 
19- 115.  US argues that the Legislature did not intend that subsection 19-110(e)(5) 
would be “a gateway to adjudicate countless other statutes.”  US Reply at 5.  US 
believes that such an interpretation of subsection 19-110(e)(5) would produce absurd 
results, thus affronting one of the principles of statutory construction listed above.  Id.   
In essence, US asserts that the boundaries of the phrase “all other applicable laws” are 
coincident with the text of the PUA itself (or perhaps, more narrowly, with the text of 
those particular provisions that explicitly address AGSs). 
 
 However, the pertinent phrase in Section 19-110 is not explicitly limited to the 
PUA (that is, it does not refer to “all other provisions of this Act” or something similar).  
Moreover, elsewhere in Section 19-110, the Legislature plainly intends that the 
Commission will assess compliance with provisions beyond the PUA and, for that 
matter, beyond this state’s own law.  “[A]pplicant will comply with all applicable federal, 
State, regional, and industry rules, policies, practices and procedures for the use, 
operation and maintenance of the safety, integrity, and reliability of the gas transmission 
system.”10  Since the foregoing text from subsection (e)(2) refers expressly to 
transmission system safety and reliability, subsection (e)(5) must address something 
else.  Otherwise, the reference to “all other applicable laws” would be surplusage - an 
interpretation that contravenes the principle that a court or agency should construe a 
statute so that no term is rendered superfluous or meaningless.  People v. Lutz, 73 Ill.2d 

                                            
9
 Additionally, the presumptive exclusion principle is not applied inflexibly.  When it appears to contravene 

legislative intent, it will be disregarded.  Patteson v. City of Peoria, 386 Ill. 460, 54 N.E.2d 445 (1944). 
10

 220 ILCS 5/19-110(e)(2). 
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204, 212, 383 N.E.2d 171 (1978).  Consequently, there is no apparent reason why 
subsection 19-110(e)(5), on its face, should be read to exclude laws beyond the PUA 
generally or laws addressing consumer protection in particular. 
 
 Furthermore, empowering the Commission to consider (but not implement or 
enforce) laws outside the PUA does not inevitably, or even typically, produce absurd 
results.  The Commission regularly evaluates legal compliance by the utilities (as 
distinct from AGSs) under its supervision, and then takes the actions authorized by the 
PUA.  For example, the Commission has construed and applied what is now Section 
65/15 of the Rights of Married Persons Act (“RMA”)11, which determines the 
responsibility of estranged spouses for the financial obligations of former spouses.  
Although that statute makes no reference to the Commission (and is not mentioned in 
the PUA), it became relevant to the public utilities context when spouses were denied 
utility service due to former spouses’ delinquencies.  Central Illinois Light Company v. 
Illinois Commerce Commission,  204 Ill.App.3d 1, 562 N.E.2d 4 (1990); Peoples Gas 
Light & Coke Co. v. Illinois Commerce Commission, 222 Ill.App.3d 738, 584 N.E.2d 341 
(1991); DiBello v. Illinois Commerce Commission, 241 Ill.App.3d 1088, 610 N.E.2d 730 
(1993).  The specific issue in Peoples Gas was whether the Commission “has 
jurisdiction to determine Peoples Gas’ rights as a creditor under [a predecessor statute 
to the RMA].”  222 Ill.App.3d at 740.  Citing the authority provided by what is now 
Section 4-201 of the PUA12, the Court concluded that because the predecessor to the 
RMA was “a State statute which clearly affects Peoples Gas’ ability to collect revenue 
for its service, the Commission was authorized by this provision to determine Peoples 
Gas’ right to bill the complainant for the outstanding gas bills as issue.”  Id., at 742.  The 
Dibello court expressly relied on Peoples Gas and also found Commission authority to 
construe the RMA under what are now Sections 4-101 and 10-101 of the PUA13. 
 

There are other instances in which the Commission has interpreted and applied 
laws beyond the PUA in order to measure a regulated entity’s compliance with 
provisions in the PUA.  In the 1980’s, certain Illinois electric utilities sought to include 
the construction costs of their nuclear-fuel generating plants in their rate bases (a 
prerequisite to recovering those costs from customers).  Under the statutes that are now 
Sections 9-21214 and 9-21315 of the PUA, construction costs have to be prudent and 
reasonable to enter rate base.  Because nuclear power plant construction is regulated 
by the United States Nuclear Regulatory Commission (“NRC”), the constructing utilities 
were subject to NRC regulations and decisions.  Accordingly, this Commission 
assessed the prudence and reasonableness of utility management, within the meaning 
of the PUA, by reviewing utility compliance with NRC requirements.  The Commission 

                                            
11

 750 ILCS 65/15. 
12

 220 ILCS 5/4-201 (“It is hereby made the duty of the Commission to see that the provision of the 
Constitution and the statutes of this State affecting public utilities, the enforcement of which is not 
specifically vested in some other officer or tribunal, are enforced and obeyed, and that violations thereof 
are promptly prosecuted and penalties due the State therefor recovered and collected, and to this end it 
may sue in the name of the People of the State”). 
13

 220 ILCS 5/4-101 & 5/10-101. 
14

 220 ILCS 5/9-212. 
15

 220 ILCS 5/9-213. 
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considered both whether the utilities’ compliance efforts were successful and whether 
the NRC’s regulations and decisions were themselves unclear – in order to resolve the 
utilities’ claims that cost increases caused by federal regulation were nonetheless 
reasonable and prudent under the PUA. 

 
 For example, in In Re Illinois Power, Dckts. 84-0055, 87-0695 & 88-0266 

(consol.), Illinois Power Company (now Ameren Illinois Power) unsuccessfully 
contended that costly work stoppages during construction of its Clinton nuclear facility 
resulted from inconsistent NRC implementation of federal requirements.  Illinois Power 
reiterated this argument on appeal, asserting that the NRC had created a “changing 
regulatory environment.”  Illinois Power Co. v. Illinois Commerce Commission, 208 
Ill.App.3d 779, 800, 566 N.E.2d 1372, 1386 (1991).  Illinois Power did not question this 
Commission’s power to review, and even “second-guess,” the NRC’s implementation of 
federal regulations - indeed it expressly requested such second-guessing, in order to 
recover its costs under state law.  The Court of Appeals affirmed the Commission’s 
interpretations of, among other things, the federal regulations applied to Clinton’s 
construction. 

 
Similarly, In Re Commonwealth Edison Company, Dckts. 0537 & 84-0555 

(consol.), concerned Commonwealth Edison’s (“ComEd’s”) Bryon nuclear facility, which 
had initially been denied an operating license by the NRC.   The Commission weighed 
ComEd’s assertion that the NRC’s licensing delay had been unwarranted under federal 
regulations.  Perforce, the Commission had to evaluate the NRC’s performance under 
federal law (as well as ComEd’s performance under NRC oversight), in order to 
determine whether to allow cost recovery for delay-related expenses under state law.  
The Commission’s determination that only one-half (rather than all) of the licensing 
delay was attributable to ComEd mismanagement was overturned by the Circuit Court 
of Cook County16, and eventually remanded by the Supreme Court, after a subsequent 
direct appeal, in People ex. Rel. Hartigan v. Illinois Commerce Commission, 117 Ill.2d 
120, 510 N.E.2d 865 (1987).  No party or court involved in this protracted litigation 
questioned the Commission’s power to review, for the purpose of implementing state 
law, ComEd’s compliance with federal regulation. 

 
In both the Illinois Power and ComEd proceedings, subsection 9-213(3) of the 

PUA obligated the Commission to “consider the knowledge and circumstances 
prevailing at the time of each relevant utility decision or action,” in order to determine 
the reasonableness of the utility’s construction expenses.  The Commission and the 
reviewing courts assumed that laws and regulations outside the PUA were included 
within the “knowledge and circumstances prevailing at the time” of plant construction, 
although no specific law or regulation (or even the words “law” and “regulation”) appear 
in the statute.  Analogously, the “applicable law” provision in Section 19-120 of the PUA 
would include laws beyond the PUA, so long as consideration of such laws is 
reasonably linked to implementation of the Commission’s explicit duties under the PUA.    
 

                                            
16

 At that time, appeals of Commission orders went initially to the Circuit Court. 
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  It makes no difference here that US is an AGS, not a gas utility.  While the 
General Assembly established, under the PUA, a more comprehensive regulatory 
matrix for utilities, as compared to AGSs, that does not mean that the Commission is 
precluded from looking beyond the PUA for the purpose of carrying out its oversight 
duties with respect to AGSs.  That is, although the Commission does not have, say, 
ratemaking authority for AGSs, it has authority over many components of AGS 
operations, and the exercise of that authority necessitates interpretation of laws outside 
the PUA.  Thus, the principal distinction between Commission oversight of, respectively, 
AGSs and utilities, is not that the Commission can consider other laws when enforcing 
utilities-related PUA provisions but not when enforcing AGS-related PUA provisions.  
Rather, it is that fewer elements of AGS operations are addressed by the PUA (e.g., 
AGS ratemaking is not assigned to the Commission).   
 

Thus, in either context (AGS or utility), the Commission has the implied power 
necessary to execute its express power.  “[I]t is a well established rule that the express 
grant of authority to an administrative agency also includes the authority to do what is 
reasonably necessary to accomplish the legislature's objective.”  Abbott Laboratories, 
Inc. v. Illinois Commerce Commission, 289 Ill.App.3d 705, 712, 682 N.E.2d 340, 347 
(1997) (emphasis added).  Accordingly, the general grant of authority to the 
Commission to require compliance by AGSs with “all other applicable laws” 
necessitates the same type of inquiry as Section 4-101 of the Act17, which directs the 
Commission to monitor utility “compliance with [the PUA] and any other law.”  In both 
cases, the Commission is directed to look beyond the PUA for the purpose of enforcing 
the PUA.   
 
 Further, in certain respects relevant here, the Commission’s regulation of AGSs 
is identical to the power the Commission traditionally exerts over more comprehensively 
regulated entities.  To receive certification under subsection 19-110(e)(1), a prospective 
AGS must demonstrate that it possesses “sufficient technical, financial and managerial 
resources and abilities” to provide its proposed services.  Under Section 13-405 of the 
PUA18  The same requirement is imposed upon telecommunications carriers seeking 
certification to provide local exchange service.  To make the requisite findings, in both 
the gas and telecommunications contexts, the Commission will inevitably consider the 
applicant’s historic and planned adherence to legal requirements beyond the PUA19.   
 

If it were otherwise – that is, if the Commission could not assess whether a 
prospective AGS had affronted, among other things, codified technical standards, 
financial disclosure laws or anti-discrimination and consumer protection statutes 
applicable to company management – its ability to meaningfully implement subsection 
19-110(e)(1) would be severely impaired.  Simply put, it would be unreasonable to 

                                            
17

 220 ILCS 5/4-101. 
18

 220 ILCS 5/13-405. 
19

 To provide a simple example in the AGS context, under 83 Ill.Adm.Code 551.80(e)(2), the Commission 
must determine whether the AGS applicant’s contract of insurance was issued in accordance with 
enumerated provisions of the Illinois Insurance Code. 
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conclude that the Commission is precluded from assessing an applicant’s legal 
compliance when evaluating the applicant’s managerial competence.   
 
 However, even assuming solely for the sake of argument that the Commission’s 
subsection 19-110(e)(1) duty to assess a prospective AGS’s technical, financial and 
managerial abilities does not include the authority to weigh an AGS’s compliance with 
laws beyond the PUA, the “all other applicable laws and regulations” provision in 
Section 19-110 would do so.  Again, subsection 19-110(e)(5), both by itself and as 
carried forward into subsection 19-115(b)(2), cannot be construed to be devoid of 
legislative purpose.  Whether it is (at the narrowest) intended to facilitate the 
Commission’s assessment of technical, financial and managerial resources and abilities 
under subsection 19-110(e)(1), or whether it is (more broadly) intended to empower the 
Commission to assess an AGS’s compliance with all laws applicable to its performance 
as an AGS, subsection 19-110(e)(5) authorizes the Commission to consider an AGS’s 
fidelity to laws beyond the PUA. 
 
 That said, however, US argues that another provision in Section 19-120 
precludes the exercise of Commission power (comprehensive or otherwise) over 
matters addressed by the CFA.  Specifically, US points to subsection 19-120(d), which 
provides that “[n]othing in this Act shall be construed to limit, restrict, or mitigate in any 
way the power and authority of the State’s Attorneys or the Attorney General under the 
[CFA].”  Motion at 3.  “Having the Commission exercise jurisdiction over CFA claims, 
despite the lack of an express grant to do so, would serve to impede that reservation of 
rights [to the State’s Attorneys and Attorney General].”  Id. 
 
 Initially, the ALJ notes that subsection 19-120(d) does not, by its terms, limit the 
Commission’s power under Section 19-120.  Instead, it preserves the powers of the 
State’s Attorneys (“SA”) and the Attorney General (“AG”) under another statute, the 
CFA.  US’s contention, however, is that subsection 19-120(d) should nevertheless be 
construed to limit Commission jurisdiction because Commission consideration of 
consumer fraud matters would, in effect, impede consumer protection efforts under the 
CFA by the State’s Attorneys (“SA”) and the Attorney General (“AG”).  The SA and AG 
do not have exclusive authority to enforce the CFA, however.  They have the authority 
to investigate, under Section 505/3 of the CFA, and the power to seek injunctive relief, 
restitution and civil penalties, under Section 505/7.  But under Section 505/10a, “[a]ny 
person who suffers actual damage as a result of a violation of [the CFA] committed by 
any other person may bring an action against such person.”  (Emphasis added.)  Thus, 
when consumers seek damages under Section 505/10a, and also request, as they do 
here, cease-and-desist relief, penalties and decertification under the PUA, there is no 
statutory conflict with the functions of the SA and AG. 
 
 However, US emphasizes, the AG did file an action against US under the CFA in 
this instance.  Motion at 4.  In these circumstances, would Commission jurisdiction 
impede the AG, thus suggesting that such jurisdiction should not be presumed to exist?  
Subsection 4-601(c) of the PUA20 provides the answer. 

                                            
20

 220 ILCS 5/4-601. 
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Subject to subdivision (1) of Section 10b of the [CFA], the 
Attorney General and the State's Attorney of any county 
shall have available all remedies and authority granted to 
them by the [CFA].  The remedies for violations of this Act 
and its rules are not intended to replace other remedies that 
may be imposed for violations of the [CFA] and are in 
addition to, and not in substitution for, such other remedies, 
nor is this Act intended to remove any statutorily defined 
defenses.  (Emphasis added.) 

 
Subsection 10b(1) of the CFA states that nothing in the CFA shall apply to “[a]ctions or 
transactions specifically authorized by laws administered by any regulatory body or 
officer acting under statutory authority of this State or the United States.”21   
 

Taken together, subsections 4-601(c) of the PUA and 10(b)(1) of the CFA create 
a legislative framework in which the same acts or omissions can be addressed both in 
judicial proceedings initiated under the CFA by the SA and GA and administrative 
proceedings initiated by others before this Commission under the PUA.  In the former 
context, the CFA would be directly enforced and CFA penalties would be imposed if 
warranted.  In the latter context, violations of the CFA would constitute non-compliance 
with the “applicable laws” provisions in Sections 19-110 and 19-115 of the PUA, 
triggering the penalties in Section 19-120 if warranted22.  Thus, there is no conflict 
between SA or GA actions under the CFA and Commission action under the PUA.  It 
follows that there is no reason to construe either act as limiting the Commission’s 
jurisdiction under the PUA. 

 
US also avers that the jurisdiction of administrative agencies is generally 

circumscribed by their “special competence and expertise” concerning matters within 
their subject-matter province (here, the “rates and charges by regulated entities”).  
Motion at 5.  In US’s view, disputes that do not require the agency’s special expertise 
belong in the courts.  Id., at 6.  However, the legislature has not confined the 
Commission to rate-setting, either for utilities or AGSs.  Subsection 19-115A(e) 
expressly authorizes the Commission to scrutinize, among other things, AGS marketing 
materials and disclosures - items that a court could also address under the CFA or the 
common law that preceded that act23.  Indeed, the Commission may be the better forum 

                                            
21

 815 ILCS 505/10b(1). 
22

 The Commission essentially adopted this principle in Citizens Utility Board v. Illinois Bell Telephone 
Co., Dckt. 00-0043, where it said: “[F]acts that would constitute fraud under the [CFA] would likely also 
constitute evidence of unjust and unreasonable conduct under the [PUA]…Therefore, while the 
Commission cannot use such evidence to enforce the [CFA], we can consider that evidence for the 
purpose of enforcing the [PUA].”  Order, Jan. 23, 2001, at 6. 
23

 While it could be argued that the Commission can only consider the particular items described in 
subsections 19-115A(e), that interpretation would ignore the additional authority provided by subsections 
19-110(e)(5) and 19-115(b)(2).  Moreover, it would engender needless inefficiency, because closely 
related claims arising from common facts could not be addressed together before the Commission, even 
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for assessing commercial deception claims pertaining to retail gas supply, given the 
Commission’s familiarity with the nuances and complexities of that enterprise.   
 
 Finally, by concluding that the “all other applicable laws” provisions of Sections 
19-110 and 19-115 encompass the substance of Count V, this Ruling begs a question 
posed by US’s motion – where does the Commission’s jurisdiction end?  While the 
Commission’s jurisdictional borders do not have to be definitively identified here (that is, 
it is sufficient for purposes of resolving the Motion to conclude that Count V is well within 
the Commission’s purview), the parties ought to have operative principles for conducting 
this litigation. Accordingly, the ALJ observes that the pertinent phrase does not refer to 
“all other laws,” but to all other “applicable” laws.  It reasonably follows that “applicable” 
laws are those that concern the AGS’s performance as a retail gas supplier.  Thus, 
while the Rights of Married Persons Act, discussed above, might be “applicable” to US’s 
denial of gas service to an estranged spouse, that statute (and other provisions of 
domestic relations and family law) would not necessarily be “applicable” in another 
context.   
 
 In sum, the Motion to dismiss Count V is denied.  
 

COUNT VI 
 

In Count VI, Complainants allege that certain purported conduct by US (as 
described in earlier paragraphs of the Complaint) has violated the Illinois Deceptive 
Trade Practices Act (“DTPA”)24, insofar as that statute “prohibit[s] a party from engaging 
in conduct that creates a likelihood of confusion or misunderstanding for customers.”  
Complaint, ¶ 30.  Although Complainants cite no specific subsection of the DTPA, their 
claim tracks language in subsection 510/2(12) (“engages in any other conduct which 
similarly creates a likelihood of confusion or misunderstanding”)25. 
 
 US moves to dismiss Count VI on the same grounds it presents for dismissing 
Count V.  Consequently, most of the preceding discussion concerning Count V is 
pertinent here.  The DTPA is another “applicable law” under Sections 19-110 and 19-
115 of the PUA, which are enforceable under Section 19-120.  DTPA Subsection 
510/2(c) confirms that nothing in the DTPA contradicts that conclusion, by stating that 
Section 510/2 “does not affect unfair trade practices otherwise actionable at common 
law or under other statutes of this State.”  (Emphasis added.)  This provision is 
analogous to subsection 10b(1) of the CFA, and should be similarly construed as a 
legislative declaration that Illinois administrative agencies can exercise authority derived 
from their own enabling legislation - i.e., from “other statutes of this State,” within the 
meaning of subsection 510/2(c) - over matters that are also actionable before the 
judiciary under the DTPA.   
 

                                                                                                                                             
though subsection 19-115A(e) evinces the legislature’s clear belief that the Commission is an appropriate 
forum for claims of commercial deception.   
24

 815 ILCS 510/1 et seq. 
25

 815 ILCS 510/2(12). 
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 That said, the ALJ notes that the voluminous annotations to the DTPA suggest 
that a successful claim under that act requires proof of precise elements.  Accordingly, 
insofar as Complainants intend to demonstrate that a violation of subsection 510/2(12) 
has occurred (for the purpose of establishing failure to comply with “applicable laws” 
under the relevant PUA provisions), the burden of making that demonstration may be 
considerable.   
 
 In any event, the Motion to dismiss Count VI is denied. 
 

COUNT VII 
 

In Count VII, Complainants allege that the contract termination terms set forth in 
US’s customer service agreement (attached to the Complaint as Exhibit K) impose an 
“illegal penalty” for service cancellation.  Complaint ¶32.  Initially, US moved to dismiss 
this count on the ground that it presents “an equitable claim of unconscionability based 
on Illinois common law,” over which the Commission lacks jurisdiction.  Motion at 5.  
After Complainants denied that Count VII contains a claim of unconscionability, 
Complainants’ Response at 6, US contended that even if that denial were correct, the 
Commission would still lack jurisdiction to judge the reasonableness or legality of US’s 
contract.  “The construction of a contract and the determination of rights and obligations 
of the parties thereto are questions of law, the determination of which rests exclusively 
with the courts.”  Reply at 8. 
 
 The foregoing quotation from US’s Response is not helpful to US.  Insofar as US 
aptly describes the claim in Count VII as a question “of law,” it invites consideration of 
whether contract law is included within the “other applicable laws” provision in Sections 
19-110 and 19-115 (as carried forward from Section 19-110).  Complainants and Staff 
say that it is.  Complainants’ Reply at 6; Staff Reply at 12.  As a general proposition, 
there is no apparent reason why common law would not be “applicable” law, within the 
meaning of the pertinent AGS statutes.  Moreover, the particular claim here (pertaining 
to US’s standard retail supply agreement) certainly involves US’s performance as a 
retail gas supplier, thus placing that claim within the zone of applicability described in 
reference to Count V.   
 
 Two caveats are required, however.  First, because the Commission can 
consider the substantive content of US’s service agreement only for the purpose of 
enforcing Sections 19-110 and 19-115, it cannot impose any remedies other than those 
appearing in subsection 19-120(c).  Thus, the Commission cannot order common law 
remedies such as reformation or rescission of US’s contract with any particular 
customer, and it cannot award contract-related damages, either to specific customers or 
to Complainants.  Nor can the Commission require refunds for any customer or for 
Complainants, as it might do with respect to a gas utility subject to Sections 9-252 or 9-
252.1 of the Act26.  Similarly, the Commission cannot determine the specific contract 
terms that would replace the termination provision in US’s standard agreement, as it 

                                            
26

 220 ILCS 5/9-252 & 9-252.1. 
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might have done for a gas utility pursuant to Section 9-250 of the Act27.  Sections 9-250, 
9-252 and 9-252.1 do not apply to AGs.  What the Commission can do (in addition to 
imposing the penalties and certificate-related actions described in subsections 19-
120(C)(2) & (3)) is require US, under subsection 19-120(C)(1), to either cease including 
the termination provision in its agreement or correct that provision in some fashion that 
complies with applicable law. 
 

Second, in Count VII, Complainants also charge that “because of fraudulent 
sales and marketing practices, [US] cannot show that the parties intended to agree to 
[the contract termination provision].”  Complaint, ¶32.  This allegation does not pertain 
to the content of the termination provision, but to whether US’s customers knowingly 
agreed to it.  This allegation appears misplaced in Count VII, which is captioned 
“Violation of Prohibition Against Unreasonable Liquidated Damages.”  Moreover, it 
apparently contradicts Complainants’ claim in Count VII, insofar as it implies that what 
Complainants characterize as an “impermissible” penalty might be permissible if 
customers agreed to it without fraudulent inducement.  Also, US is correct that this 
element of Count VII is essentially redundant of paragraphs 19(h) and 25(d) of the 
Complaint, which are re-alleged in Count VII (through paragraph 31).  US Reply at 7, fn. 
2.    

 
Accordingly, the pertinent sentence should be stricken from Count VII28 because 

it is redundant and, in the context of Count VII, too confusing to apprise US of what is 
being alleged29.  If, however, Respondent asserts as a defense that the termination 
provision in its contract cannot constitute an impermissible penalty because consumers 
agreed to that provision30, Complainants may rebut that defense with appropriate 
argument and evidence concerning fraudulent inducement.  Additionally, to be clear, the 
pertinent sentence is not nullified here because, as US contends, “Complainants’ claim 
that it was somehow concealed or undisclosed lacks any support.”  Id., at 10.  That 
assertion raises a factual dispute that cannot be decided on a motion to dismiss.  

 
 In sum, the motion is denied with regard to Count VII, except that the final 
sentence of paragraph 32 of the Complaint must be stricken. 

                                            
27

 220 ILCS 5/9-250. 
28

 Complainants need not re-file or amend the Complaint.  The last sentence in paragraph 32 of the 
Complaint will simply be deemed inoperative. 
29

 “Respondent is entitled to notice of…the cause of action for which it is being sued.”  Respondent’s 
Reply at 9. 
30

 The ALJ has not researched this matter and intends absolutely no comment on the validity of such a 
defense. 


